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Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), for its Complaint

alleges:

L.

The FTC brings this action under Sections 5(a)(1) and 13(b) of the Federal
Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a)(1) and 53(b), to
obtain a permanent injunction, rescission or reformation of contracts,
restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies,
and other equitable relief, against Defendants Lights of America, Inc.,
Usman Vakil, and Farooq Vakil (collectively “Defendants”) for engaging
in deceptive acts or practices in connection with the advertising and sale of
lighting products, in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of
the FT'C Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,
1337(a), and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 53(b).
Venue is proper in this district under 28 ‘U.S.C. § 1391(b)-(c), and 15
U.S.C. § 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government
created by statute. 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58. The FTC enforces Section 5(a) of
the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or
practices in or affecting commerce.
The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its
own attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to secure such
equitable relief as may be appropriate in each case, including rescission or
reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the

disgorgement of ill-gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).
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DEFENDANTS
Defendant Lights of America, Inc. (“LOA”) is a California corporation
with its principal place of business at 611 Reyes Drive, Walnut, CA 91789.
LOA transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the
United States. At all times relevant to this Corriplaint, acting alone or in
concert with others, LOA has advertised, marketed, distributed, or sold
lighting products to consumers throughout the United States.
Defendant Usman Vakil is the President of, and has a fifty-one percent
ownership interest in, LOA. At all times relevant to this Complaint, acting
individually or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed,
controlled, had authority to control, or participated in the acts or practices
set forth in this Complaint and knew or should have known that the acts or
practices described herein were unfair or deceptive. Defendant Usman
Vakil transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the
United States.
Defendant Farooq Vakil is the Vice President of, and has a forty-nine
percent ownership interest in, LOA. At all times relevant to this
Complaint, acting individually or in concert with others, he has formulated,
directed, controlled, had authority to control, or participated in the acts or
practices set forth in this Complaint and knew or should have known that
the acts or practices described herein were unfair or deceptive. Defendant
Farooq Vakil transacts or has transacted business in this district and
throughout the United States.
At all times relevant to this Complaint, the alleged acts and practices of
Defendants have been in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined -
in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.
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DEFENDANTS’ COURSE OF CONDUCT
Since February 2008 and continuing thereafter, Defendants have
advertised, promoted, offered for sale, sold and distributed Light Emitting
Diode lamps (“LLED lamps”) to major national retailers for sale to
consumers. These LED lamps are screw light bulbs that can be used in
households in place of incandescent bulbs. LEDs typically produce more
lumens (i.e., a measure of brightness) with less wattage (i.e., energy use)
than traditional incandescent bulbs.
Defendants created, prepared, disseminated, or caused to be disseminated
product labels, brochures, and other promotional materials, including, but
not limited to, the attached Exhibits 1 to 3, containing, among other things,
the following statements and depictions:

a. Lights of America Packaging (Exhibit 1)

REP&%CES USEi .(g\!LY

WATTS WATITS
Save $112%*
In Energy Cost Per Bulb
90%
More Efficient

(Compared to incandescent
and halogen bulbs)

30,000 Hour Life

(Life Rating of LED’s)

“You’ll never change your bulbs again.”***

LT he asterisks after “Save $112"and “You'll never change your
ulbs again’ refer consumers to text appearing on the back of the
package in very small print]

*%*Based on the lifetime operating cost difference of a 40W bulb
when compared to a 2.5W LED Bulb operated 4 hours per day 365
days per year at $0.10 kwh over 30,000 hrs.
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*#%Statement based on the minimum # of times the led [sic] bulb
needs to be changed.

b. Lights of America Packaging (Exhibit 2)

Light Output: 201 lumens

Rated Life: 20,000 hours
Energy Used: 3.5 Watts
Color of Light: 5600K(Daylight)

[ Graphic: picture of a large LED light bulb equal to ten small
incandescent light bulbs arranged in a pyramid. |

LASTS 10 TIMES LONGER
raphic described above |
than 2,000 hour incandescent bulbs

c.  Lights of America Brochure (Exhibit 3)

Accent SPECIFICATIONS
Buib

WATTAGE: 4W _
INCANDESCENT CAMPARISON [sic]: 45W
COLOR TEMP: 3500K

BULB LIFE HOURS: 30,000

HEAT FREE TECHNOLOGY

In numerous instances, Defendants’ LED lamps produced significantly less

light output than a typical incandescent light bulb at the wattage
represented in Defendants’ promotional materials. For example, although
Defendants represented that one of their LED lantern lamps replaces a 40-
watt incandescent light bulb, this particular LED lamp produced only 74
lumens of light, while a typical 40-watt incandescent bulb produces 405
lumens.

In numerous instances, Defendants’ LED lamps produced significantly less
lumens of light than Defendants represented in their promotional materials.
For example, Defendants represented that one of their LED recessed lamps
produces 90 lumens of light, but their own tests demonstrated that this

LED lamp produces only 43 lumens.
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14. Innumerous instances, Defendants’ LED lamps would not last the
specified number of hours that Defendants represented in their promotional
materials. If the lumen output decreases by more than 10% in the first
1,000 hours, it will not last 30,000 hours. Defendants represented that one
of their LED recessed lamps will last 30,000 hours, but, in independent
testing, this particular LED lamp lost 80% of its light output after only
1,000 hours.

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT

15. Section 5(a) of the FT'C Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits unfair or
deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. As set forth below,
Defendants have engaged in unlawful practices in connection with the
marketing and sale of LED lamps.

FALSE OR UNSUBSTANTIATED CLAIMS
IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 5 OF THE FTC ACT
Count I

16. Innumerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing,
promotion, offering for sale, sale, or distribution of LED lamps,
Defendants have represented, expressly or by implication, that the LED
lamps will provide light output equivalent to particular watt incandescent
light bulbs.

17. Innumerous of these instances, the representations set forth in Paragraph
16 are false or were not substantiated at the time the representations were
made. Therefore, the making of the representations set forth in Paragraph
16, above, constitutes a deceptive act or practice, in or affecting commerce,

in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).
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Count I1
In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing,
promotion, offering for sale, sale, or distribution of LED lamps,
Defendants have represented, expressly or by implication, that the LED
lamps will provide a purported level of light output in [umens.
In numerous of these instances, the representations set forth in Paragraph
18 are false or were not substantiated at the time the representations were
made. Therefore, the making of the representations set forth in Paragraph
18, above, constitutes a deceptive act or practice, in or affecting commerce,
in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

Count ITT
In numerous instances, in connection with the advertising, marketing,
promotion, offering for sale, sale, or distribution of LED lamps,
Defendants have represented, expressly or by implication, that the LED
lamps will last a specified number of hours.
In numerous of these instances, the representations set forth in Paragraph
20 are false or were not substantiated at the time the representations were
made. Therefore, the making of the representations set forth in Paragraph
20, above, constitutes a deceptive act or practice, in or affecting commerce,
in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

CONSUMER INJURY

Consumers throughout the United States have suffered and continue to
suffer substantial consumer injury as a result of Defendants’ violations of
the FTC Act. In addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a
result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief by this

Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, reap unjust
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enrichment, and harm the public interest.

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF
Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to
grant injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to
halt and redress Violationé of any provision of law enforced by the FTC.
The Court, in the exercise of equitable jurisdiction, may award ancillary
relief, including rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the |
refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to

prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the
ETC.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
24.  Wherefore, the FTC, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.
§ 53(b), and the Court’s equitable powers, requests that the Court:
a. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC
Act by Defendants;
b.  Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to

consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act,
including but not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts,
restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ili-
gotten monies; and

C. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such
other and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and
proper.

Respectfully submitted,

WILLARD K. TOM
General Counsel

K Movu D Spocten
ROBIN ROSEN SPECTOR
GREGORY J. MADDEN
Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Room M-81028B
Washington, DC 20580
§202§ 326-3740 gtel.z ES ector)

202) 326-2426 (tel.) (Madden)
202) 326-2558 (fax
rspector@ftc.gov, gmadden@fte.gov

STACY PROCTER (Local Counsel)
Federal Trade Commission
10877 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 700
Los Angeles, CA 90024
310) 824-4343 (tel.
310) 824-4380 (fax
sprocter@ftc.gov
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EXHIBIT 3
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE FOR DISCOVERY

This case has been assigned to District Judge James V. Selna and the assigned
discovery Magistrate Judge is Marc Goldman.

The case number on all documents filed with the Court should read as follows:

SACV10- 1333 JVs (MLGxX)

Pursuant to General Order 05-07 of the United States District Court for the Central
District of California, the Magistrate Judge has been designated to hear discovery related
motions.

All discovery related motions should be noticed on the calendar of the Magistrate Judge

NOTICE TO COUNSEL

A copy of this notice must be served with the summons and complaint on all defendants (if a removal action is
filed, a copy of this notice must be served on all plaintiffs).

Subsequent documents must be filed at the following location:

Western Division [X] Southern Division Eastern Division
312 N. Spring St., Rm. G-8 411 West Fourth St., Rm, 1-053 3470 Twelfth St.,, Rm. 134
Los Angeles, CA 90012 Santa Ana, CA 92701-4516 Riverside, CA 92501

Failure to file at the proper location will result in your documents being returned to you.

CV-18 {03/06) NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE FOR DISCOVERY
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CIVEL COVER

SHEET

I {a) PEAINTIFFS (Check bex if you are representing yourself L)
Federal Trade Comimission

DEFENDANTS

Lights of America, Inc., a California Corporation; Usman Vakil, an individual;
and Farooq Vakil, an individual

(b) Attoreys (Firm Natne, Address and Telephone Number. If you are representing

yourseif, provide same.)

Rebin Rosen Spector, Gregory . Madden, Stacy Procter
600 Pennsylvania Ave, NW., M-8102B
Washingten, DC 20580 (telephone: 202 326-3740/2426)

Attorneys (If Known)

Al Kumar

3141 Michelson Drive, Unit 401

Trving, CA 92612

Attomey for Lights of America, Inc,, Usman Vakil, and Farooq Vakil
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W't Original
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State Court
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT, CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CIVIL COVER SHEET

VIII{a}. IDENTICAL CASES: Has this action been previously filed in this court and dismissed, remanded or closed? Mo 3 Yes
I€yes, list case number(s):

VIII(k). RELATED CASES: Have any cases been previously filed in this court that are related to the present case? E‘{No 1 Yes
If yes, list case number(s):

Civil cases are deemed related if a previously filed case and the present case:
{Check ail boxes that apply) [ A. Arise from the same or closely related transactions, happenings, or events; or
O B. Call for determination of the same or substantially related or similar questions of law and fact; or
O C. For other reasons would entail substantial duplication of labor if heard by different judges; or
OD. Involve the same patent, trademark or copyright, and one of the factors identified above in a, b or ¢ also is present.

EX. VENUE: (When compieting the following information, use an additional sheet if necessary.)

(z) Listthe County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than California; or Foreign Couniry, in which EACH named plaintiff resides.
Check here if the government, its agencies or employees is a named plaintiff. If this box is checked, go to item (b},

County in this District:¥ Califomia County outside of this District; Statc, if other than California; or Foreign Country

(b) List the County in this District; California County outside of this District; State if other than California; or Foreign Country, in which EACH named defendant resides.
L1 Check here if the goverament, its agencies or employess is a named defendant. If this box is checked, go to jtem (c).

County in this District:* Califomnia County outside of this District; State, if other than Califernia; or Foreign Country
Lights of America, Tnc. - Los Angeles County
Usman Vaidl - Los Angeles County
Faroog Vakil - Orange County

(ey Listthe County i this District; California County outside of this District; State if’ other than California; or Foreign Country, in which EACH ciaim arose.
Mote: In land condemmnation cases, use the location of the tract of fand involved,

County in this Distdiet;* California County outside of this District; State, if other than California; or Foreign Country

Nationwide (including Los Angeles County) Nationwide

* Los Angeles, Orange, San Bernardino, Riverside, Ventura, Santa Barbara, or San Luis Ohispo Counties
Note: In fand condemnation cases, use the focation of the tract of iand involved

X. SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY (OR PRO PERY: ‘{C@’é"—@’h {9) S; RO AN Date 5{’1{ 2 L} /O

Notice to Counsel/Parties; The CV-71 (JS-44; Civii Cover Sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings
or other papers as required by law, This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required pursuant to Local Rule 3-1 is not filad
but is used by the Clerk of the Court for the purpose of statistics, venue and injtiating the civil docket sheet, (For more detailed instructions, see seperate instructions sheet.)

Key to Statistical codes relating to Social Security Cases:

Nature of Suif Code  Abbreviation Substazntive Statement of Cause of Action

861 HIA All claims for health insurence benefits (Medicare) under Title 18, Part A, of the Social Security Act, as amended.
Also, include claims by hospitals, skilled nursing facilities, etc., for certification as providers of services under the
progrant. (42 U.5.C., 1935FF(bY)

862 BL All claims for “Black Lung” benefits under Title 4, Part B, of the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969.
{30 U.8.C. 923)

863 DIWC All claims filed by insured workers for disability insurance benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as
amended; plus all claims filed for child’s insurance benefits based on disability. (42 U.8.C. 405(g)}

863 DWW All claims filed for widows or widowers insurance benefits basexd on disability under Title 2 of the Social Security
Act, as amended, (42 U.8.C. 405(g))

864 SSiD All claims for supplemental security income payments based upon disability filed under Title 16 of the Social Security
Act, as amended.

865 RSI All claims for retirement (old age) and survivors benefits under Title 2 of the Social Security Act, as amended. (42
US.C.(g)

CV-71 {05/08) CIVIL COVER SHEET Page 2cf2



